**RECEIVED**

**Feb 23 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jessica A. Salvini, Circuit Court Judge  
Civil Action No. 2024-CP-23-02744

---

Appellate Case No: 2025-001550

---

Bruce Wilson, ....., Appellant

v.

Princeton Rodrigues Williams and Ennis M. Fant., Defendants,

Of Whom Ennis M. Fant....., Respondent.

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Bruce Wilson  
14 Freestone St  
Greenville SC 29605  
brucewilson23@gmail.com

**APPELLANT**

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court expand the public figure doctrine beyond *Cruce*, as required under South Carolina's refined three-part test?
- II. Did the Circuit Court err by ruling Appellant fail to prove actual malice at the pleading stage on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6)?
- III. Did the Circuit Court commit reversible error by relying on extrinsic evidence or prior judicial rulings rather than the pleadings alone?
- IV. Did the Circuit Court err by misapplying South Carolina pleading standards and improperly dismissing Plaintiff's claims, which were sufficiently pled under applicable South Carolina statute and caselaw?
- V. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion by denying Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The procedural history of this case reveals multiple reversible errors that have deprived Appellant of his right to have meritorious claims heard on their merits. Appellant initiated this action on May 6, 2024, by filing a Complaint alleging intentional infliction of emotional distress and civil conspiracy against Respondent Fant and Defendant Williams, to include defamation against Williams. The Circuit Court Judge Gravely granted Fant's motion to dismiss with leave for Appellant to amend the complaint on January 22, 2025, finding the original Complaint insufficiently pleaded the claims as to Fant, under the standards articulated in *Hansson v. Scalise Builders* and *Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett*.

In response to the Court's order, Appellant filed a comprehensive 53-paragraph Amended Complaint on February 10, 2025, that added substantial factual details and two new causes of actions against Fant, for **defamation** and statutory **extortion**. The Amended Complaint contained extensive new allegations including specific details about Fant's direct involvement in the

defamation scheme through his provision of false information to Williams, his explicit directions to publish the defamatory content, and his orchestration of community viewership of the damaging video. The pleading also included detailed allegations regarding the recorded extortion attempt that formed the basis of the new statutory claim.

The case took a critical turn on April 24, 2025, when the Circuit Court entered default judgment against Williams after he failed to respond to the Amended Complaint. This default created judicial admissions establishing Williams' liability for all well-pleaded allegations in the Complaint, including those detailing Fant's central role in directing the defamatory campaign. Despite these admissions, the Circuit Court dismissed all claims against Respondent Fant on May 27, 2025, creating the legally untenable situation where Defendant Williams is bound by default admissions while Respondent Fant escapes liability for the same conduct.

The Circuit Court compounded these errors on July 1, 2025, by denying Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration without meaningfully addressing the four manifest errors of law identified in the motion and **Memorandum** in Support of the motion. The Court's boilerplate order claiming no "material fact or principle of law" had been overlooked demonstrates a complete failure to engage Appellant's substantive arguments and the clear precedent supporting them. This series of erroneous rulings has resulted in a fundamental miscarriage of justice that this Court should correct through **REVERSAL** and **REMAND**. The Circuit Court **GRANTED** dismissal without prejudice Appellant's claims for defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and civil conspiracy against Respondent Fant under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. **GRANTED** dismissal with prejudice Appellant's statutory extortion claim. The court subsequently **DENIED** Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration. Appellant now appeals all dismissals and the denial of reconsideration as reversible error.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Amended Complaint's detailed allegations, which must be accepted as true under the pleading standards articulated in *Gentry v. Yonce*, establish the following comprehensive factual narrative that demonstrates the merits of Plaintiff's claims and the errors in the Circuit Court's dismissal. The core of Plaintiff's claims arises from a calculated campaign of defamation orchestrated by Defendant Fant through Defendant Williams beginning in April 2024. As a sitting Greenville County Council member, Fant wielded significant influence in the community, while Williams operated as a social media influencer with substantial following. The Amended Complaint alleges with particularity that on April 25, 2024, Williams published a Facebook Live video containing numerous false and defamatory statements about Plaintiff that were viewed over 1,500 times. The video contained specific, provably false accusations that Plaintiff had filed fraudulent complaints to remove Fant from office, lied under oath to election officials, and conducted illegal surveillance of Fant - all claims that Fant knew to be completely false when he directed their publication.

The Amended Complaint establishes Fant's direct involvement in this defamation scheme through multiple specific allegations. Paragraph 9 alleges that Fant personally provided Williams with the false information about Plaintiff with the intent that it be disseminated publicly. Paragraph 11 details how Fant specifically directed Williams to publish the defamatory statements to third parties through social media platforms. Paragraph 12 further alleges that Fant systematically instructed community leaders and political associates to view the video to maximize its damaging impact on Plaintiff's reputation. These detailed allegations satisfy South Carolina's recognition of defamation by procurement or direction under *Murray v. Holnam*, which holds principals liable for defamatory statements made by their agents within the scope of the agency relationship.

The Amended Complaint further alleges that after the defamatory video was published and Plaintiff filed this lawsuit, Fant engaged in an even more egregious abuse of power through attempted political extortion. On June 14, 2024, Fant called Plaintiff and explicitly conditioned the cessation of Williams' attacks on Plaintiff's political endorsement. This critical conversation was captured on Plaintiff's home security system and provides irrefutable evidence of Fant's misconduct. The recording reveals Fant stating "*I can make this stop if you agree to endorse me,*" while acknowledging that Williams was disseminating falsities about Plaintiff and admitting his ability to control Williams' actions. Shortly after this call, Williams contacted Plaintiff to confirm that Fant had directed him to stop the attacks if Plaintiff endorsed Fant's reelection campaign. This sequence of events demonstrates Fant's control over Williams and the coercive nature of their relationship. The Amended Complaint details with specificity the substantial damages Plaintiff suffered as a direct result of Defendants' actions. These include severe reputational harm in the Greenville community where Plaintiff conducts his advocacy work, emotional distress including clinically significant anxiety, humiliation, and sleeplessness, and financial losses related to impaired fundraising and advocacy capabilities. Each category of harm is tied directly to specific misconduct by Defendants through detailed factual allegations that satisfy South Carolina's pleading requirements for all asserted causes of action.

Defendant Fant filed his Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint on April 7, 2025, asserting multiple grounds for dismissal under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Fant argued that Plaintiff failed to properly serve him with the Amended Complaint and Second Amended Complaint, in violation of SCRCR Rules 4 and 5 (R. pp. 135, 136 , lines 12-14, 21). Fant also contended that Plaintiff engaged in "trickery and manipulation of the service process" by attempting service at an incorrect address (R. p. 135, lines 13-14).

Fant moved to dismiss each of Plaintiff's claims. Fant argued Plaintiff failed to allege any defamatory statement published by Fant or facts showing actual malice (R. pp. 136, 137, lines 22-28). Regarding intentional infliction of emotional distress, Fant asserted Plaintiff did not plead any overt action by Fant that was extreme or outrageous (R. pp. 137, 138, lines 29-32). For civil conspiracy, Fant claimed Plaintiff failed to allege any overt act done pursuant to a common design (R. pp. 138, 139, lines 34-37). As to extortion, Fant argued South Carolina does not recognize a civil cause of action for extortion (R. p. 139, lines 38-41).

A hearing on Defendant Fant's Motion to Dismiss was scheduled for April 21, 2025. At the hearing, Plaintiff had prepared two witnesses to testify regarding the service of the amended complaint. However, after Fant waived the service-related portion of his motion, Plaintiff excused his witnesses without eliciting any testimony on the issue of service.

On April 24, 2025, the presiding judge issued an order dismissing defendant Fant from all claims asserted in the amended complaint, thereby relieving defendant Fant of any liability. In the Order to Dismiss, the presiding judge incorporated factual findings related to the reported lack of proper service, despite Fant's waiver of this argument at the hearing. The judge's order emphasized procedural deficiencies and aligned with Fant's arguments on the merits. The judge found that Fant did not make defamatory statements and Plaintiff failed to **prove** actual malice in the defamation claim. Regarding the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim, Plaintiff did not plead extreme or outrageous conduct by Fant. As to the civil conspiracy claim, Plaintiff failed to allege an overt act in furtherance of a conspiracy. Concerning the extortion claim, the judge ruled that South Carolina does not recognize a civil extortion claim. Plaintiff filed a Motion to Reconsider under Rule 59(e), SCRCP, which the court denied on July 1, 2025. The judge held that there were no overlooked facts or legal errors, reaffirming the dismissal.

## PLEADINGS

On April 19, 2024, Plaintiff learned of a public hearing scheduled for April 25, 2024, regarding Defendant Fant's eligibility to run for office in Greenville County Council District 25. Plaintiff attended the hearing as an observer and had no involvement in the proceedings. During the hearing, Derrick Quarles, a candidate for the District 25 seat, presented evidence challenging Defendant Fant's residency. Defendant Fant also presented evidence in his defense. The Greenville County Board of Elections ultimately ruled in favor of Defendant Fant (R. p. 42, lines 6, 7).

Following the hearing, Defendant Fant contacted Defendant Williams and provided him with false information about Plaintiff's involvement in the hearing. Defendant Fant encouraged, directed, and assisted Defendant Williams in disseminating defamatory statements about Plaintiff as evidence by a phone call between Defendant Fant and Plaintiff on June 14, 2024. On April 25, 2024, Defendant Williams published a live video on Facebook, which garnered over 1,500 views. In the video, Defendant Williams, at the behest of Defendant Fant, falsely accused Plaintiff of: (a) Filing a false complaint to remove Defendant Fant from office; (b) Lying under oath to the Board of Elections; (c) Spying on Defendant Fant and recording him without consent; and (d) Collaborating with others to have Defendant Fant removed from office. These statements were false, defamatory, and made with actual malice or reckless disregard for the truth. Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff had no involvement in the hearing beyond being an observer. Defendant Fant not only provided Defendant Williams with the false information as evidence by a phone call on June 14, 2024, but also actively encouraged and directed the dissemination of these defamatory statements (R. p. 42, lines 8-11).

Defendant Fant contacted several community leaders to instruct them to watch the video that Defendant Williams had posted while live on Facebook (R. p. 43, line 12).

Defendant Williams engaged in a bombastic and corrosive social media campaign designed to alienate and ostracize Plaintiff through the dissemination of false and defamatory statements. The campaign was so pervasive and damaging that Plaintiff was compelled to file for a restraining order against Defendant Williams in magistrate court. A hearing on the restraining order was scheduled and conducted on May 10, 2024, and Defendant Fant attended the hearing to lend support to Defendant Williams, his co-conspirator. At the conclusion of the restraining order hearing, the parties agreed to a mutual restraining order. The presiding judge agreed to craft a detailed order reflecting the terms of the agreement. Despite this agreement and the court's involvement, Defendants continued their defamatory campaign against Plaintiff, including using information obtained during the magistrate court proceedings to further their attacks. Defendants' continued defamatory conduct, even after the court's intervention, thereby forcing Plaintiff to withdraw the restraining order in an attempt to limit Defendants' ability to use the proceedings as ammunition for further character assassination (R. p. 43, lines 12-15).

On or about June 14, 2024, Defendant Fant made phone calls to the Plaintiff in an attempt to coerce the Plaintiff to endorse him under the pretext of stopping the onslaught of defamatory posting on social media. During the final phone call Plaintiff was able to capture the call on his home security camera, at or around 6:16 pm when Defendant Fant contacted Plaintiff by phone. The conversation was conducted via speakerphone and was captured on Plaintiff's home security camera. The recording clearly captures Defendant Fant's words and intent. Fant indicated to the Plaintiff that he would ensure that the social media attacks would stop if Plaintiff endorsed him in the upcoming run-off election against Derrick Quarles. During the June 14, 2024, conversation, Defendant Fant explicitly stated that he could get Defendant Williams to stop making videos about Plaintiff, but that Defendant Williams would not stop attacking UA Thompson, Senator Karl Allen,

and Derrick Quarles. Defendant Fant made it clear that he could implicitly or explicitly direct, control, and order Defendant Williams to stop the defamatory statements about Plaintiff. During the phone call with Plaintiff, Defendant Fant acknowledged that Defendant Williams was disseminating falsities about the Plaintiff and such acknowledgment enhanced Defendant Fant's understanding and awareness of the falsities he helped create. Shortly after Defendant Fant's June 14, 2024, call, with Plaintiff, Defendant Williams contacted Plaintiff. During this conversation, Defendant Williams stated that he would remove all videos about Plaintiff and would stop making videos regarding Plaintiff. Defendant Williams further confirmed that he had spoken with Defendant Fant and that Defendant Fant had directed him to cease the defamatory attacks (R. pp. 44, 45, lines 18- 20).

As a result of Defendants' actions, Plaintiff has suffered severe emotional distress, damage to his reputation, and harm to his standing in the community (R. p. 46, line 25).

Plaintiff seeks redress for defamation (false statements accusing Plaintiff of criminal conduct, published to third parties via social media), intentional infliction of emotional distress (extreme and outrageous conduct including extortionate behavior), civil conspiracy (unlawful agreement to injure Plaintiff), and extortion (coercion to endorse Fant for political benefit) (R. pp. 46-55, lines 26–54).

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

### **A. Motions to Dismiss**

“In reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the [circuit] court.” *HHHunt Corp. v. Town of Lexington*, 389 S.C. 623, 631, 699 S.E.2d 699, 703 (Ct. App. 2010). See also, *Fabian v. Lindsay*, 410 S.C. 475, 481, 765 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2014) (“A ruling on a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule

12(b)(6) must be based solely on the factual allegations set forth in the complaint, and the court must consider all well-pled allegations as true.”); *Wilkinson v. E. Cooper Cmty. Hosp., Inc.*, 410 S.C. 163, 169, 763 S.E.2d 426, 430 (2014) (quoting *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). “In deciding whether the [circuit] court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the appellate court must consider whether the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, state any valid claim for relief.” *Id.* “The [circuit] court and this [c]ourt on appeal must presume all well pled facts to be true.” *Id.* at 635, 699 S.E.2d at 705 (internal quotation marks omitted).

### **B. Motions to Reconsider**

In South Carolina, Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motions have long been considered a vehicle to seek reconsideration of issues and arguments presented to the court. *See Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 21, 602 S.E.2d 772, 778 (2004). It is proper to view a Rule 59(e) motion not only as a vehicle to request the trial court “alter or amend the judgment,” but also as a vehicle to seek “reconsideration” of issues and arguments. A party usually is allowed to ask the trial court to reconsider its decision, even if it means rehashing all or part of an argument previously presented. *Elam*, 361 S.C. at 21,602 S.E.2d at 778-79. Rule 59(e) provides that a “motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served no later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order,” it does not set forth a defined legal standard for reconsideration. Rule 59(e), SCRCP. The South Carolina Supreme Court has established that, “a party may wish to file such a motion when he believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it.” *Id.*, 361 S.C. at 24, 602 S.E.2d at 780.

## **ARGUMENT**

The trial court's dismissal of this case against Respondent represents a fundamental miscarriage of justice, ignoring clear allegations that Respondent Fant engaged in a coordinated campaign of reputational destruction and political coercion. The Amended Complaint establishes a classic civil conspiracy, detailing how Fant and Williams combined forces to spread malicious falsehoods, with Fant directing the defamatory scheme while Williams executed it. This unlawful agreement satisfies all elements of conspiracy under South Carolina law, particularly given Williams' default judgment which provides substantial circumstantial admission of the concerted action. The court's refusal to hold Respondent Fant accountable for this joint enterprise creates an indefensible legal paradox where the subordinate bears full liability while the mastermind walks free. Furthermore, the dismissal improperly nullifies Appellant's compelling statutory extortion claim, which alleges Respondent Fant explicitly traded the cessation of defamatory attacks for political endorsement - an unambiguous "thing of value" under S.C. Code § 16-17-640. The recorded extortion attempt, combined with Fant's admitted control over Williams' actions, demonstrates a textbook violation that the court erroneously dismissed. This conduct, coupled with the intentional infliction of severe emotional distress through a sustained campaign of public humiliation, reveals a pattern of abuse of power that demands judicial redress. The lower court's failure to recognize these valid causes of action constitutes reversible error, warranting this Court's intervention to restore Appellant's right to pursue justice. Moreover, the court's erroneous classification of the appellant as a public figure for purposes of the defamation claim with no *(evidence or omission)* constitutes a grave and indefensible miscarriage of justice, a determination that, if left uncorrected, would irreparably distort both the record and the fundamental principles of First Amendment jurisprudence.

**I. Did the lower court expand the limited public figure doctrine beyond *Cruce*, as required under South Carolina's refined three-part test?**

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