RECEIVED

Apr 01 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jessica A. Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001550

Bruce Wilson, ....., Appellant,

v.

Princeton Rodrigues Williams and Ennis M. Fant, Defendants,

Of Whom Ennis M. Fant....., Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Austin D. Nichols  
Austin D. Nichols, Esq.  
J. Todd Rutherford, Esq.  
RUTHERFORD LAW FIRM  
1315 Blanding Street  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
Phone No.: (803) 256-3003  
Fax No.: (803) 256-9698  
austin@rutherford.law  
todd@rutherford.law

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

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. APPELLANT’S APPEAL FAILS BECAUSE IT IS NOT ANCHORED IN CONTROLLING SOUTH CAROLINA AUTHORITY AND MISSTATES THE PLEADING STANDARD.**

At the outset, Appellant’s brief suffers from a fatal defect: it does not cite a single South Carolina appellate decision holding that allegations like those pled in the Amended Summons and Complaint are sufficient to survive a SCRCR Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss. Instead, Appellant relies on broad generalizations about “notice pleading,” policy concerns, and selective transcript quotations untethered from binding precedent or legal argument. Appellant merely seeks to litigate his displeasure with the fact that the Amended Complaint is dismissed as opposed to asserting any legal error of law concerning the determination of each cause of action. Appellant now relitigates issues presented to the lower court, while also asserting new factual and procedural claims unrelated to the standard of review for a SCRCR Rule 12(b)(6) motion. Appellant repeatedly asks this Court, as well as the Circuit Court, to credit speculation, infer unpled facts, affirm conjecture, and disregard pleading defects—requests that are incompatible with Rule 12(b)(6) jurisprudence and unsupported by authority.

Appellant’s central flaw is the failure to plead essential elements of each cause of action, a defect that independently requires dismissal as a matter of law. *Woodell*, 307 S.C. 297, 298. Appellant cites no South Carolina case holding that a plaintiff may survive dismissal without meeting the necessary elements of each cause of action. Here, as in the oral hearings and written memoranda on the same, Appellant wrongfully asserts that the Circuit Court required or requested proof of each element of each cause of action. Whereas, at each stage of the litigation, the lower court repeatedly informed Appellant that it did not seek proof of each cause of action, but that each cause of action must be properly pled in a manner that, viewed in a light most favorable to Appellant, the facts

alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle Appellant to relief on any theory of the case.

It is important to note the procedural history of this matter. Plaintiff initially filed a Complaint, which was subsequently dismissed *without* prejudice due to factually pled deficiencies, and the Court permitted Appellant twenty (20) days to file an Amended Complaint to address the deficiencies. Appellant then filed the underlying Amended Complaint, asserting new causes of action, withdrew the Amended Complaint by virtue of filing a Second Amended Complaint, followed by Appellant affirmatively withdrawing the Second Amended Complaint and then requesting to reinstate the underlying Amended Complaint. At each stage of the pleadings, it was abundantly clear that the Court did not seek nor review any pleading for evidence to support each cause of action, but that each pleading failed to properly plead the necessary elements for each cause of action that could provide Appellant relief from any theory of law. Therefore, Appellant was afforded three (3) opportunities to correct any deficiencies in the pleadings and repeatedly failed to do so.

Here, as in the Circuit Court, Appellant has failed to properly plead any facts supporting a theory of recovery for any of the alleged causes of action. Appellant consistently seeks this Court to accept his pleaded allegations as true, while materially and intentionally disregarding the legal and procedural conclusion that even if the facts were viewed as true, such allegations do not give rise to any theory of recovery.

Appellant improperly relies on matters outside the pleadings while accusing the Circuit Court of doing the same. Appellant fails to identify any instance where the court resolved factual disputes or weighed evidence. To the contrary, the appealing order and various orders issued by the Circuit Court reflect a straightforward legal conclusion: the allegations, taken as true, do not state viable causes of action. That conclusion is expressly authorized under SCRCF Rule 12(b)(6) and is

reviewed de novo as a legal determination—not as fact-finding. Appellant’s argument conflates his displeasure with the outcome as a procedural error, a distinction this Court has consistently rejected.

Moreover, Appellant accuses the Circuit Court of considering “extrinsic evidence” while ignoring that such “extrinsic evidence” is either filed and pled by Appellant as exhibits or attachments to his pleadings, or such “extrinsic evidence” is directly referenced in the Amended Complaint. Appellant’s own brief is saturated with new factual assertions, characterizations, and explanations that do not appear in the pleadings, transcript, or any Order of the Court. Appellant asks this Court to infer facts never pled and credit hypothetical conjecture. This request does not amount to any legal arguments supporting a determination that the Circuit Court committed any error of law.

## **II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED RULE 12(b)(6).**

Appellant repeatedly argues that the Circuit Court imposed a heightened pleading standard. That assertion is demonstrably false. South Carolina remains a notice-pleading state, but notice pleading still requires facts—not speculation, inference stacking, or conclusory labels. *See Doe*, 373 S.C. 390. A Complaint must allege facts sufficient to support relief under any theory of law. *See Id.* at 390, *see also Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 202, 584 S.E.2d 413, 416 (Ct. App. 2003).

Here, the Circuit Court dismissed the claims not because Appellant failed to plead enough detail, but because Appellant failed to plead the essential elements whatsoever. Appellant’s attempt to reframe this failure as a pleading-standard dispute is unsupported by authority and contradicted by the Order itself. Appellant’s brief repeatedly supplements the Amended Complaint with new explanations, interpretations, and factual assertions. This Court has made clear that appellate review of a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal is confined to the pleadings themselves. *Doe*, at 463. Arguments that depend on facts not pled below are not legal arguments; they are requests to amend by briefing, which is impermissible. The Circuit Court properly evaluated only what was alleged, and the Circuit

Court properly entered orders dismissing the underlying matter.

*A. APPELLANT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM FOR INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS.*

In order to succeed on a claim for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, a Plaintiff must plead, “(1) the defendant intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress, or was certain, or substantially certain, that such distress would result from his conduct; (2) the conduct was so “extreme and outrageous” so as to exceed “all possible bounds of decency” and must be regarded as “atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community; (3) the actions of the defendant caused plaintiff’s emotional distress; and (4) the emotional distress suffered by the plaintiff was “severe” such that “no reasonable man could be expected to endure it.” *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 356, 650 S.E.2d 68, 70 (2007). The Circuit Court unquestionably found Appellant failed to plead any action or conduct by Respondent which intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress, failed to plead a showing of extreme and outrageous conduct that exceeds all possible bounds of decency, and that Appellant failed to plead any supporting allegations that he suffered any severe damages attributable to Respondent.

*B. APPELLANT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM OF DEFAMATION.*

“In order to prove defamation, the plaintiff must show (1) a false and defamatory statement was made; (2) the unprivileged publication was made to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication.” *Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 465, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006), disapproved of by *Floyd v. WBTW*, No. CIV.A. 4:06CV3120-RB, 2007 WL 4458924 (D.S.C. Dec. 17, 2007) (quoting *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 494, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002)).

Appellant failed to plead any defamatory statement published by Respondent by way of libel or slander. Appellant failed to plead Responded published any statement whatsoever. Appellant, at best, accuses Respondent of directing members of the community to review a video that was publicly available

and published on co-defendant Williams' public Facebook profile, notably without pleading any supporting or evidentiary facts to lead to such a conclusion and accusation. There is no question that defendant Williams stated, posted, and published the Facebook live video in question. This video is and was readily available to anyone who looked at Williams' Facebook page. This in no way amounts to a false statement, published by Respondent, at the fault of Respondent. *See Erickson*, at 465-7. Absent these necessary elements for Defamation, Appellant's pleadings fail to meet the necessary criteria to survive a SCRPC Rule 12(b)(6) motion.

I. APPELLANT'S PUBLIC-FIGURE ARGUMENT IS LEGALLY IRRELEVANT AND UNSUPPORTED BY THE PLEADINGS

Appellant devotes substantial argument to disputing public-figure status, yet this argument is largely beside the point and irrelevant to the standard of review in this matter. First, the Circuit Court never issued a determination of Appellant's public status. Even assuming *arguendo* Appellant is a private figure, dismissal remains proper because the complaint fails to plead publication and falsity, elements required under any defamation standard. *Erickson* 368 S.C. at 465. Appellant seeks to apply this argument as a means to accuse the Circuit Court of expanding a legal doctrine, while ignoring that the decision of the Court was made irrespective of such doctrine. Appellant misinterprets the legal analysis and fails to recognize that the basis is to determine the level of scrutiny applied to the review of the elements, while again ignoring that the elements are deficiently pled on their face under any level of scrutiny. The Circuit Court's conclusion was grounded not in Appellant's status, but in the complete absence of a properly pled cause of action.

C. APPELLANT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM FOR CIVIL CONSPIRACY.

The elements of civil conspiracy are: "(1) the combination or agreement of two or more persons, (2) to commit an unlawful act or a lawful act by unlawful means, (3) together with the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the agreement, and (4) damages proximately resulting to the plaintiff." *Paradis v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 433 S.C. 562, 576, 861 S.E.2d 774, 780

(2021), reh'g denied (Aug. 18, 2021). “[I]n civil conspiracy, the graveman of the tort is the damage resulting to plaintiff from an overt act done pursuant to a common design.” *Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett*, 385 S.C. 110, 115, 682 S.E.2d 871, 874 (Ct. App. 2009).

“In a civil conspiracy claim, one must plead additional acts in furtherance of the conspiracy separate and independent from other wrongful acts alleged in the complaint, and the failure to properly plead such acts will merit the dismissal of the claim.” *Hackworth*, 385 at 115-116 (emphasis added); R. 1 - 3. The Circuit Court properly determined that Appellant failed to state a claim primarily on three grounds: (1) Appellant failed to correct the deficiencies in his claim, per this Court’s instruction, and such deficiencies are cited as the remaining two grounds for dismissal of this claim; (2) Appellant failed to allege Respondent committed any unlawful act or lawful act by unlawful means; (3) Appellant failed to allege additional acts in furtherance of the conspiracy. *Hackworth*, at 115-116, R. 4-6; R. 10-21; R. 1-3.

Therefore, the Circuit Court properly determined this cause of action should be dismissed because Appellant (1) did not plead the existence of any combination or agreement between Respondent and Williams; (2) he did not properly allege any unlawful act or lawful act by unlawful means; (3) he did not plead any overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy as required and ordered by Judge Gravely; and (4) he did not alleged any damages, in which any Court may grant relief. *See Id.*; R. 1-3.

*D. APPELLANT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM FOR CIVIL EXTORTION.*

Just as the claims above, Appellant’s argument in the dismissal of the extortion claim is an attempt to relitigate issues addressed by the Circuit Court without providing any legal authority to support his argument. The Circuit Court expressed very articulately and unambiguously the following:

“South Carolina does not recognize a civil claim for extortion and no elements or burden of proof are established for this alleged civil cause of action. Plaintiff argues that S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-10 allows him the ability to plead extortion; however, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-10 refers to the criminal penalty of perjury and subornation of perjury and does not relate to a criminal charge of “extortion.” However, in viewing this claim in a light most favorable to Plaintiff, Plaintiff asserts that South Carolina defines extortion as, “the obtaining of property or other benefit from another induced by wrongful use of force, fear, or threats.” Plaintiff failed to plead that Defendant Fant obtained property or benefit from another by the use of force, fear, or threats.”

R. 10-21.

Appellant’s brief fails to address this fundamental and legal deficiency with the pleadings. Appellant now seeks relief from this deficiency, claiming he mislabeled the statute, an issue never presented or preserved prior to this Court. Further, Appellant now claims the allegations fall under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-640, rather than S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-10 as he pled.<sup>1</sup> Again, an assertion never raised before this brief, and Appellant again failed to plead any elements of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-640 within the Amended Complaint. Again, Appellant intentionally ignores the legal fact that such statute is a criminal statute and fails to cite any legal authority for a civil cause of action which corresponds to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-640 or S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-640.

---

<sup>1</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-640 states, “Any person who verbally or by printing or writing or by electronic communications:

(1) accuses another of a crime or offense;

(2) exposes or publishes any of another's personal or business acts, infirmities, or failings; or

(3) compels any person to do any act, or to refrain from doing any lawful act, against his will;

with intent to extort money or any other thing of value from any person, or attempts or threatens to do any of such acts, with the intent to extort money or any other thing of value, shall be guilty of blackmail and, upon conviction, shall be fined not more than five thousand dollars or imprisoned for not more than ten years, or both, in the discretion of the court.”

### **III. APPELLANT'S RELIANCE ON THE CO-DEFENDANT'S DEFAULT IS LEGALLY BASELESS.**

Appellant's most novel argument is that the default entered against co-defendant Williams operates as a factual admission binding Respondent, who timely appeared and defended. This proposition is unsupported by South Carolina authority, inconsistent with fundamental principles of civil procedure, and would violate the Respondent's procedural and substantive due process rights. No portion of SCRCRCP Rule 55 supports this position, nor has Appellant cited to any case law to provide the same. Pursuant to SCRCRCP Rule 55, default judgment constitutes an admission of well-pleaded allegations only as to the defaulting party and has no evidentiary or preclusive effect against a co-defendant who has appeared and contested liability. SCRCRCP Rule 55.

As a procedural matter, the Circuit Court issued an Order of Default Judgment against Defendant Williams on August 6, 2025. R. 24-26. This comes nearly three (3) months after the Court dismissed the underlying action against Respondent on May 27, 2025. Appellant requests this Court to determine that the Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in failing to retroactively impute factual admissions of a co-defendant, by way of default, onto Respondent, who was already dismissed from the action. There is no such legal authority that permits such a request. Even assuming *arguendo* that such a legal mechanism exists, it would not cure the deficiencies as it relates to the allegations against Respondent.

### **CONCLUSION**

This appeal is not supported by controlling authority, misstates the applicable standards, and improperly attempts to cure pleading defects through appellate argument. Appellant has failed to demonstrate any error of law; the Circuit Court's Order should be **AFFIRMED**.

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